RULES AND REGULATIONS OF SPECIAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT NO. 2 OF THE RIO GRANDE WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT BOARD OF MANAGERS

ARTICLE I

Object

- 1. The Purpose of the Board of Managers of Special Improvement District No.2 of the Rio Grande Water Conservation District is to carry out the general supervision and operational management of the Subdistrict. Specifically, the Board of Managers must develop and implement a plan of water management to benefit the property within the Subdistrict. The plan of water management must be designed to remedy injurious depletions to senior surface water rights from groundwater withdrawals from Subdistrict Wells and to conserve and stabilize the water supply for irrigation, domestic, municipal, industrial and other beneficial uses for those water users within the boundaries of the Subdistrict.
- 2. The Board of Managers will operate both separately and in conjunction with the Board of Directors of the Rio Grande Water Conservation District.

ARTICLE II

Members

1. Number of Members. As stated in the Petition for Establishment of Special Improvement District No. 2 of the Rio Grande Water Conservation District, the Board of Managers will be composed of seven (7) members and one (1) Ex Officio member. Members must be landowners, or legal representatives of landowners, in the Subdistrict and will be appointed by the Board of Directors of the Rio Grande Water Conservation District.

- 2. Appointment Criteria for Members. As stated in the Petition for Establishment of Special Improvement District No. 2 of the Rio Grande Water Conservation District, the Subdistrict will be divided into three voting districts: Voting District One is comprised of Subdistrict lands west of a north-south line consisting of US Highway 285 and State Highway 15 (also known as the 'Gun Barrel'); Voting District Two is comprised of Subdistrict lands east of the Gun Barrel and west of a north-south line consisting of County Road 6E, which is also the boundary between Rio Grande and Alamosa Counties; and, Voting District Three is comprised of Subdistrict lands east of a north-south line consisting of County Road 6E. Manager representation will be nominated from each of the voting districts as follows: one (1) nominee for Manager will be elected from District One; three (3) nominees for Manager will be elected from District Two; one (1) nominee for Manager will be elected from District Three; and, two nominees for Manager will be at-large and elected by all Subdistrict members. A single member of the Board of Managers may meet more than one of the appointment criteria set forth above. After the first election of nominees, any person who desires to be a nominee must specify which nominee position he or she will run for.
- 3. Appointment of Members. The Board of Directors of the Rio Grande Water

 Conservation District will appoint the members whom have been elected by the Subdistrict

 Members to represent each of the Voting Districts as described above. Should a Voting District
 fail to elect a candidate for an expiring or vacant seat on the Board of Managers, then the Board
 of Directors will be free to make an appointment of its choosing meeting the applicable criteria.
- 4. Ex Officio Member. The Ex Officio member must be a member of the Board of Directors of the Rio Grande Water Conservation District. The Ex Officio member will vote only in case of a tie. The Ex Officio member must be appointed by the Board of Directors of the Rio

Grande Water Conservation District annually. The Ex Officio member will provide regular updates concerning the Board of Managers activities at Rio Grande Water Conservation District Board Meetings.

- 5. Terms of Members. Regular members shall serve six year terms, with no limit on the number of terms that a member may serve. The first Board of Managers shall be comprised of two (2) members serving for initial terms of two (2) years, two (2) members serving for initial terms of four (4) years, and three (3) members serving for initial terms of six (6) years. Upon appointment of the initial Board of Managers, the District Board will assign the initial length of each member's term as described in the Petition to Establish the Subdistrict.
- 6. Removal of Member. At any regular meeting of the Board of Managers, should any five (5) of the members elect to seek the removal of a member, the request for that member's removal will be referred to the Rio Grande Water Conservation District Board of Directors. The Board of Directors at the next regular or special meeting and after proper notice may consider the request to remove such member recommended for removal by the Board of Managers, with cause. After public deliberation the Board of Directors can remove such member if the motion to do so is supported by at least six (6) affirmative votes of the Board of Directors. Any member of the Board of Managers whose removal has been recommended must be given an opportunity to be heard at both the meeting of the Board of Managers and the Board of Directors of the Rio Grande Water Conservation District. Any member of the Board of Managers whose removal will be proposed to the Board of Directors must be given adequate notice of the reasons for the proposed removal and of the date and time of the Board meeting where an opportunity to be heard by the Board of Directors of the Rio Grande Water Conservation District will be afforded before any action is taken.

7. Vacancy. If a member of the Board of Managers resigns or is removed before the end of a term of office, the Board of Directors shall request letters of interest from Subdistrict Members who meet the qualifications of the vacant seat. The District Board will select a new member to fulfill the unexpired term from those letters of interest. This new member will stand for election at the end of the term in the same manner as the other members.

ARTICLE III

Officers

- 1. Number / Election / Term. The Officers of the Board of Managers shall be a President, a Secretary and such other officers as it deems necessary, including Vice-President and Treasurer. All such officers must be selected or appointed at the first meeting of the Board of Managers by majority vote and afterwards at the Annual Meeting of the Board of Managers. Officers will serve for a period of one year, and until their successors shall have been selected or appointed and enter upon a discharge of their duties. In case one or more of said offices is vacant for any reason, the Board of Managers may, at any meeting, fill such vacancy or vacancies as may then exist.
- 2. President. The President will preside at all meetings of the Board of Managers. The President must sign all agreements, contracts, bonds, and other instruments authorized by, or affecting the rights and duties of the Subdistrict, and must countersign checks issued by the Subdistrict in conjunction with other authorized signatories. The President shall consult with and obtain approval from the Rio Grande Water Conservation District Board of Directors for contract bids, acquisition of property and other matters for which Rio Grande Water Conservation District Board approval is required.

- 3. Vice-President. In the event of a vacancy in the office of President, the absence or inability of the President to act, the Vice-President, if one is appointed, may perform any of the duties of the President. Upon request of the President, the Vice-President may perform such duties of the President as the President may indicate in writing. The Vice-President may countersign checks issued by the Subdistrict.
- 4. Secretary. The Secretary will cause accurate minutes of the proceedings of the Board of Managers to be kept in a well bound book of record and shall have custody of certificates, contracts, bonds given by employees, and the written evidence of all official acts of the Subdistrict which shall be kept open for inspection as required by law. The Secretary must attest, and may affix the seal of the Subdistrict, to all instruments requiring the signature of the President, except checks and bonds, and to perform such other duties as may be assigned by the Board of Managers. The Secretary may countersign checks issued by the Subdistrict.
- 5. Treasurer. At the decision of the Board of Managers, the same person may be both Secretary and Treasurer. The Treasurer shall be responsible for the custody and safe-keeping of all monies of the Subdistrict and shall pay out of the funds in the Treasurer's custody the obligations of the Subdistrict which have been incurred and approved by Board of Managers action. The Treasurer may countersign checks issued by the Subdistrict.

ARTICLE IV

Parliamentary Procedures

 Robert's Rules of Order is hereby adopted as the parliamentary guide of the Board of Managers.

ARTICLE V

Meetings

- 1. Annual Meeting. The Annual Meeting of the Board of Managers shall be held on the first Tuesday of February of each year at the principal office of the Rio Grande Water Conservation District at 8805 Independence Way, Alamosa, CO 81101.
- 2. Regular Meetings. Regular meetings of the Board of Managers shall be held on the first Tuesday of the months of February, May, August and November at the principal office of the Rio Grande Water Conservation District. Whenever the date set for a regular meeting of the Board of Managers shall fall upon a legal holiday, that meeting shall be held on the Wednesday following such holiday at the hour and place specified for the regular meeting.
- 3. Special Meetings. Special meetings of the Board of Managers may be held upon the call of the President, or any three managers. Such meetings shall be considered to be properly held if all members of the Board of Managers shall have received written notice of the time and place of such meeting by regular United States mail, electronic mail or other written electronic communication at least three (3) days in advance of the meeting.
- 4. Notice of Meetings. Public notice of all regular and special meetings must be given by posting the same in the manner provided by law at least twenty-four hours before the meeting. No other notice than that afforded by these Rules and Regulations will be required for any regular or special meeting of the Board of Managers.
- 5. Quorum. A majority of the Board of Managers shall constitute a quorum for the holding of meetings; all action of the Board of Managers shall be by vote of a majority of the whole Board.

- 6. Place of Meeting. All regular meetings of the Board of Managers will be held at the principal office of the Rio Grande Water Conservation District; special meetings may be held at any place within the exterior boundaries of the Subdistrict specified in the notice of the meeting.
- Attendance Required. Attendance at all meetings of the Board of Managers is required of each member. If a member cannot attend a meeting of the Board of Managers, he must notify the President of the Board of Managers of that fact at least twenty-four (24) hours before the meeting is scheduled. If the President is timely notified, the member's absence will be considered to be excused. If a member has unexcused absences from three (3) Board meetings in a calendar year, the Board of Managers may request that the Board of Directors of the Rio Grande Water Conservation District secure his removal and replacement with an individual willing to fully perform the duties required of a member of the Board of Managers, as provided for by II-6 above.
- 8. Organizational Meeting. The first meeting of a newly appointed Board of Managers must be held within thirty days of Rio Grande Water Conservation District Board's appointment of the Board of Managers at the office of the Rio Grande Water Conservation District. Notice will be given to the newly appointed Board of Managers members by the Rio Grande Water Conservation District Board.

ARTICLE VI

Personnel

 Board of Managers Personnel. The Board of Managers may retain employees and other personnel in consultation with the Rio Grande Water Conservation District Board of Directors.
 Unless agreed otherwise by the Board of Directors, the Board of Managers will utilize the services of the District staff, its engineers and attorneys and will pay for those services in the manner agreed to with the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE VII

Duties of Board of Managers

- 1. In October of each year, the Board of Managers will provide a written report to the Rio Grande Water Conservation District Board detailing the prior year's operations, achievements, expenditures and budget. This annual report will include the anticipated operation, expenditures and budget for the coming year. The annual report will include a certification of the total amount of Subdistrict assessments to be levied in the coming year, subject to final approval by the Rio Grande Water Conservation District Board prior to December 1st.
- 2. The Board of Managers will consult with the Rio Grande Water Conservation District Board on an as-needed basis to obtain approval for contract bids, acquisition of property and other matters for which Rio Grande Water Conservation District Board approval is required.
- 3. The scope of responsibility of the Board of Managers includes the authority to:
- (1) prepare and submit an official Subdistrict plan (Plan of Water Management) for approval by the Rio Grande Water Conservation District;
- (2) determine the amount of acreage served with groundwater that must be withdrawn from irrigation under varying hydrologic conditions;
 - (3) execute and operate all works and improvements in the Subdistrict plan;

- (4) solicit and approve bids, in consultation with the Rio Grande Water Conservation

 District Board of Directors, for contracts to carry out the works and improvements in the

 Subdistrict plan;
- (5) enter into any other contracts reasonably necessary to effectuate the purposes of the plan, including contracts with United States and state governments, corporations, special districts, and other public and private entities;
 - (6) retain employees, and other personnel, in the manner specified in VI-1;
- (7) monitor measurement devices and collect scientific data in order to effectuate the purposes of the plan;
- (8) enter upon any lands within or without the Subdistrict to make surveys and examinations;
- (9) improve any watercourse and alter or remove any structure connected to a watercourse, as reasonably necessary to effectuate the plan, with any costs and notices to be undertaken as provided in section 37-48-132, C.R.S.;
- (10) purchase, lease, or acquire property as reasonably necessary to effectuate the purposes of the plan;
- (11) acquire and use water rights or other property by purchase or long or short-term leases;

- (12) annually determine and certify to the Rio Grande Water Conservation District Board of Directors the total amount of assessments to be levied, subject to final approval and levy by the Rio Grande Water Conservation District Board of Directors; and
- (13) conduct any other functions and duties as provided in sections 37-48-123 et. seq., C.R.S., and in particular, sections 37-48-127 to 37-48-133;

EXCEPT that all contracts are subject to approval by the Rio Grande Water Conservation

District Board of Directors and all property acquired, developed, or constructed must be held in
the name of the Rio Grande Water Conservation District exclusively for the purposes and benefit
of the Subdistrict.

ARTICLE VIII

Adoption of Rules and Regulations

1. Adoption of these Rules and Regulations must occur by a majority vote of the Board of Managers. Any changes to these Rules and Regulations must be addressed in accordance with the provisions set forth in IX-1 below.

ARTICLE IX

Amendment of Rules and Regulations

1. These Rules and Regulations may be amended or repealed in a manner not inconsistent with the law creating the Subdistrict by majority vote of the Board of Managers with approval of the Rio Grande Water Conservation District Board. Such amendment may be addressed at any regular meeting of the Rio Grande Water Conservation District Board, provided ten (10) days' prior notice of the proposal for such amendment or repeal shall have been filed in writing with the Manager of the Rio Grande Water Conservation District, and provided further that the text of the proposed amendment or repeal shall have been delivered to each member of the Rio Grande

Water Conservation District Board of Directors and the District's attorney at least five (5) days
prior to the meeting at which the proposed amendment or repeal is to be presented for action.
Approved by the Board of Managers for Special Improvement District No. 2 of the Rio Grande Water Conservation District on May 11, 2016.

Approved by the Board of Directors of the Rio Grande Water Conservation District on ______, 2016.